ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALBERT BRANDEBERRY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212841

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by qualifying Shauna Galloway-Williams as an expert in “child abuse and treatment” so she could testify about “delayed disclosure” and common traits of sexually abused children since her testimony improperly bolstered the child’s testimony by raising the improper spurious inference that the alleged victim in this case was acting in conformity with those common traits?

2.

Whether the court erred by instructing the jury that it could convict appellant based on the alleged victim’s uncorroborated testimony since this instruction improperly emphasized the testimony of one witness, it was a charge on the facts, and it was fundamentally unfair and infringed on appellant’s right to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Greenville County Grand Jury for the offenses of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, and lewd act upon a minor. R. 459 His case came on for trial on August 6, 2012 before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, and a jury. Jim Bannister represented appellant and Lisa Bentley was the assistant solicitor. R. 1

On August 9, 2012 the jury found appellant guilty of both offenses. R. 449, l. 21-450, l. 3. Judge Verdin sentenced appellant to twenty years imprisonment for criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and fifteen years imprisonment for committing a lewd act upon a minor. R. 451, ll.5-10.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by qualifying Shauna Galloway-Williams as an expert in “child abuse and treatment” so she could testify about “delayed disclosure” and common traits of sexually abused children since her testimony improperly bolstered the child’s testimony by raising the improper spurious inference that the alleged victim in this case was acting in conformity with those common traits

Motion

Appellant filed a “motion to exclude testimony of non-treating expert.” R. 454. Appellant asserted the testimony of Galloway-Williams¹ should be excluded because the expert was not qualified to render an opinion on this particular subject, the expert’s testimony is not necessary to the trier of fact, and the reliability of the basis for the opinion is not sufficient to support the opinion. Appellant cited Rule 703, SCRE: State v. Council 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) Watson v. Ford Motor Company Inc, 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010) ; State v. Douglas 380 S.C. 499, 671, S.E.2d 606 (2009); State v White 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). R. 454.

Trial Facts

Detective Matthew Tuttle of the Finley, Ohio Police Department testified that Greenville County Sheriff Detective Heather Hubert asked him to interview appellant at appellant’s home in Ohio. R. 117, 1.13- 119, 1.21. Tuttle said he explained to appellant he wanted to talk to him about an investigation in South Carolina. Appellant readily agreed, and invited Tuttle into his house. The alleged victim in this case was appellant’s minor

¹ Galloway-Williams is hereinafter referred to as “Williams” for ease of reference.

niece. Her father, Harold, had confessed to Detective Hubert in Greenville that he sexually assaulted his daughter, appellant's niece. R. 95, 1.20- 96, 1.5.; R. 121, 11.6-10.

Tuttle recalled that appellant denied he had done anything improper with the alleged victim. R. 122, 11.4-13. Appellant said the niece was usually "truthful and honest except for this allegation where he said she had lied." R. 122, 11.4-23.

Tuttle maintained that the more he talked to appellant about the allegations the more upset appellant became. Tuttle said at one point appellant started talking "about killing himself" so Tuttle ended the interview. Tuttle testified that he had appellant talk to a counselor about "his feelings. So that is ultimately what happened." R. 123, 11.1-12

The niece -- and alleged victim -- testified that appellant came down from Ohio to South Carolina in his truck to visit a few times. She claimed in the summer of 2001 and the summer of 2002 when she was six or seven-years-old that appellant began touching her improperly. R. 137, 1. 20- 139, 1. 2. She said: "I didn't think there was anything wrong," and she maintained the improper touching continued. R. 139, 1.3- 143, 1.12; R. 145, 1.6- 147, 1.5. However, she stated that she wanted appellant to continue visiting because "my family loved him and I liked to get toys also." R. 153, 11. 1-11.

"Expert" Testimony

The court heard the testimony Williams and legal arguments out of the presence of the jury. The solicitor stated that witness would testify that the abuse starts off with "innocuous touching or confusing touching. So just back rubs or massages [that] confused the child to the point that they do not tell. And it could also play a part in the way disclosure...." R. 209, 1. 23- 210, 1. 6.

Defense counsel Bannister noted that the proposed witness, Williams, was not treating the alleged victim, and she was going to testify about other sexual assault victims in generalities. Counsel said her testimony was “implicitly saying that’s what perpetrators typically do in all cases that I am working on.” Counsel said this lumped all perpetrators and victims into one category. “I don’t think it’s necessary for an expert opinion. I’m – it’s a little bit of a pig in a poke.” R. 210, l. 12- 212, l. 4.

The solicitor argued that unlike defense counsel the jurors were “not legal experts. They are not experts of child sexual abuse.” The solicitor argued the testimony was necessary, and the judge said she would review the case law on the subject before ruling. R. 212, ll. 7- 24.

Defense counsel then noted the more recent cases of State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011); State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728, S.E.2d 468 (2012), as the now controlling case law. R. 212, l.23- 213, l.17.

Williams then testified in camera. Williams admitted she had no personal knowledge about this case. R. 224, ll. 23-25. She said the “time spans” involved in “delayed disclosure” . . . “just varies.” R. 226, l. 1- 227, l. 2. Williams speculated “it could be days. It could be weeks. It could be years before a child may tell.” R. 227, ll. 1-2

On cross-examination Williams said she continues to conduct forensic interviews but acknowledged “I don’t conduct research...” R. 234, l. 17- 239, l. 24. Her opinions were “based on my experience and knowledge of the children that I have worked with and the interviews that are being conducted daily in our center that I am aware of.” R. 243, l. 24- 244, l. 12. However, Williams maintained that she did read writings in the area of child abuse R. 245, l. 12- 249, l. 1.

Williams testified that nondisclosure rates among women range from thirty-three to ninety-two percent “and among men from among forty-two to eighty-five percent.” R. 249, ll. 2-12. The “vast majority” of individuals that “we have seen have been abused by a close family member or a friend, someone known to the child. There are very few cases we see where the child has been abused by a stranger or someone that is unknown to them.” R.251, ll. 10-18

When questioned about any follow-up to determine which of the cases ever led to a conviction, Williams could only respond: “We could track that. We became accredited in 2007.” R. 253, l. 18- 254, l. 7. Williams admitted she was not aware of any statistics on how many accused people were “indicated for DSS,” had their cases dismissed, or referred to law enforcement. She was also not aware of how many of those accused pled guilty or went to trial. Regarding those that went to trial she was not sure of any statistics on what verdicts were rendered. R. 254, ll. 14-22.

After hearing the testimony the judge ruled that she would not allow any questioning about whether it was more common for a family member to abuse a child than a stranger. She would also not allow testimony about whether a child who had been victimized was likely to become again become “a victim later.” R. 258, ll. 8-22. It was undisputed that the father of this minor admitted he abused her.

Defense counsel objected that this testimony constituted improper bolstering of the child’s disclosure. He argued that the “expert” opinion in essence was that the alleged victim in this case “fits into what we understand to be a kind of the common way that children disclose, [therefore] she should be given credibility.” R. 259, l. 4- 260, l .5. The judge ruled she would allow this testimony about “delayed disclosure.” R. 260, ll. 6-11.

Defense counsel then stated that Williams had maintained she did not have time to talk with the defense prior to her testimony. He therefore asked for an opportunity to review her notes. The judge asked Williams to make herself available “over the lunch hour” to talk to defense counsel. R. 260, l. 16- 262, l. 25.

Williams agreed in the presence of the jury that she had never met the alleged victim or her family. She did not know anything about this case. R. 310, ll. 11-19. She was qualified as an expert in “child abuse and treatment” over appellant’s objection. R. 309, ll. 1-23.

Williams then offered her opinions on the subject. “Children do not tell right away.” She said the delay could be “a day, a week, a year, or months.” “There are many reasons why children don’t tell right away.” R. 311, l. 1- 312, l.9.

Williams maintained that disclosure was “a process,” and that “a lot of times, children are abused by someone that is known, loved, and trusted by them. That may be a family member.” R. 312, l. 10- 314, l. 25. She then testified about how the “proximity that the child has to the perpetrator” could play a part. She added that once the perpetrator was away the child may feel “safer to disclose.” R. 315, l. 1- 316, l. 4.

Williams offered that forty-two percent of children did not delay disclosure but that fifty-eight percent of children did delay telling anyone. R. 330, ll. 15-25.

Discussion

In State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), our Supreme Court noted that while forensic interviewers may be useful as a tool to aid law enforcement their work is “not appropriate for use in a courtroom.” Appellant understands that in this case Williams was not testifying as a forensic interviewer, although she is one. Regardless, what occurred

in this case was not occurring in a vacuum. The approach for the state, given the case law from this Court and the Supreme Court, is to now have the witness, here Williams, not appear as a forensic interviewer but as an expert in “delayed disclosure” or some other “child abuse” expert title. Here, Williams allegedly did not know anything about the case, and had not even interviewed the alleged victim. Nonetheless, defense counsel here correctly argued this was simply a backdoor attempt to improperly bolster the child’s testimony.

In State v. Douglas 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009), our Supreme Court held there was no need for the testifying witness to be qualified as an expert. The Court then noted the impropriety of such a witness testifying that she believed the child.² The Supreme Court and this Court have warned of “expert” testimony on “a compelling disclosure of abuse.” See State v. Jennings 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011). See, also, State v. McKerley 397 S.C. 461, 725 S.E.2d 139 (2012).

Williams here testified with the aura of an expert. She largely admitted her conclusions and opinions were based on her own experience. She did, as seen above, claim that statistics showed that 58% of abused children delayed telling anyone. This could be “for a day, months, years.”

Further, as defense counsel correctly argued, the purpose of this testimony was to improperly bolster the credibility of the accusing witness. It was meant to have the jury conclude that the accusing witness in this case fit into a “normal pattern” of an abused person. That was improper, and it was highly prejudicial. Appellant should be granted a new trial. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013); State v. Jennings 394 S.C.

473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011). See, also, State v. McKerley 397 S.C. 461, 725 S.E.2d 139 (2012)

² In Douglas, the Supreme Court determined that witness Herod did not convey to the jury that she believed the child was telling the truth.

2.

The court erred by instructing the jury that it could convict appellant based on the alleged victim's uncorroborated testimony since this instruction improperly emphasized the testimony of one witness, it was a charge on the facts, and it was fundamentally unfair and infringed on appellant's right to a fair trial as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution

Relevant Facts

Appellant filed a motion to preclude the court from charging the jury instruction contained in S.C. Code §16-3-657 that the testimony of the alleged victim need not be corroborated. R. 453. Appellant wrote in the motion that he was aware of State v. Rayfield 369 S.C. 106, 631, S.E.2d 244 (2006) which permitted, but did not require, the court to instruct based on this statute. The motion noted that the alleged victim's allegation was the sole evidence in this case, and that the appellant is, and has been, impotent since 1996. R. 453.

The defense further argued in the motion that the instruction would be an impermissible comment on the facts, it would improperly emphasize the testimony of one witness, it would unfairly bias the jury against the appellant and detract from the presumption of innocence and the requirement that the state prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. This denied appellant his due process right to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. R. 453.

Defense counsel renewed his objection at trial. He again argued that the "uncorroborated testimony of the alleged victim alone was enough to conviction" jury instruction violated appellant's "substantial rights" including his Sixth Amendment right to

a fair trial. Defense counsel argued judge did **not have to instruct** the jury under the statute. R. 335, l. 23- 337, l.1.

Once the judge stated she would charge the statute over appellants objection, appellant asked that the judge include some other language that other evidence did not need to be ignored merely because the statute stated the alleged victim's testimony did not have to be corroborated. The judge did agree to that limited damage control after overruling the objection, inadequate on the facts here. R. 445, ll. 14-25.

As seen above, appellant's niece testified that appellant improperly touched her, and had oral sex with her. Appellant's wife, Noreen Brandeberry, had been married to appellant since 1983. R. 340, ll.5-20. Mrs. Brandeberry said appellant never admitted to any abuse and that he ultimately said he wanted nothing more to do with that portion of his family because of the untrue allegation. R. 352, l. 16- 354, l. 11. Mrs. Brandeberry also said that appellant told the investigator that he did not abuse his niece and "he said he might as well shoot his brains out" because of the untrue allegations. R. 353, ll. 1-10.

Mrs. Brandeberry testified appellant had been unable to perform sexually since the beginning of their marriage in 1983. R. 341, ll.10-19. Mrs. Brandeberry said they attempted surgery in the mid-1980's but that it caused appellant a great deal of pain, and the surgery apparently had to be reversed. R. 342, l. 4 - 348, l. 11.

As stated, the judge ruled she was charging South Carolina Code Section 16-3-657 over appellant's objections. She did add some language that was requested by appellant if she charged this code section over his objection. R. 365, l. 1 - 369, l. 2; R. 445, ll. 14-25. The judge flatly instructed the jurors "the testimony need not be corroborated and the defendant can be convicted solely on the basis of the victim's testimony." R. 445, ll.12-16.

The judge added that “uncorroborated” does not mean the jury should ignore inconsistencies and testimony or credit baseless testimony. R. 445, ll.12-25.

Discussion

In State v. Rayfield 369 S.C. 106, 631, S.E.2d 244 (2006), the Supreme Court held that the judge could, but was not required to charge South Carolina Code Section 16-3-657, that the alleged victim need not be corroborated. Appellant noted that in Rayfield the defendant had argued the instruction was a charge on the facts, it improperly emphasized the testimony of one witness, and it carried a strong possibility of unfairly biasing the jury against the defendant. See, State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 298, 715 S.E.2d 368, 378 (Ct.App. 2011). The dissenters in State v. Rayfield noted this jury instruction did not assist the jury in fulfilling its function of deciding whether the state had proven the charge beyond a reasonable doubt. In fact, they observed, the instruction created more problems than solutions, and it was confusing as a whole.

Appellant Brandeberry is not aware of any other jury instruction that favors the testimony of one witness. That is true particularly where the jury is instructed under its oath that it can convict a defendant based merely on the uncorroborated testimony of the alleged victim. It is anathema to our criminal justice system wherein a defendant is presumed innocent and he may only be convicted by evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. This instruction favors the testimony of a single witness over all others and unfairly prejudices the defendant in the eyes of the jury. It was a charge on the facts and it denied appellant his Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial. See State v. Bagwell, 201 S.C. 387, 23 S.E.2d 244, 249, (1942) (similar instruction on “uncorroborated” statements of accomplices should be