**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-212841

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

ALBERT BRANDEBERRY, .....APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

JUN 10 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

disclosure might say about her credibility, particularly in light of each party's theory of the case. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

### **Standard of Review**

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and the appellate court will not interfere unless it clearly appears that the rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011) (quoting State v. Bridges, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982)). Thus, the admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial court, and the court's decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 205-06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008). Indeed, the qualification of an expert witness and the admissibility of the expert's testimony are matters within the trial court's discretion. Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997). A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of that discretion. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009); State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when there is an error of law or a factual conclusion which is without evidentiary support. Morris, 376 S.C. at 206, 656 S.E.2d at 368; Gooding, 326 S.C. at 252, 487 S.E.2d at 598; Lee v. Suess, 318 S.C. 283, 457 S.E.2d 344 (1995).

## **Analysis / Discussion**

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence provide:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. Thus, there are several criteria that must be considered by the court in deciding whether to admit expert testimony. First, the court must determine if the scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge purportedly held by the witness would assist the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue. Second, the court must determine if the proffered witness in fact possesses scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge to qualify as an expert. Finally, in its general gatekeeping function, the court must determine if the type of expert testimony offered meets a “reliability threshold” for the jury’s ultimate consideration. White, 382 S.C. at 269-70, 676 S.E.2d at 686; State v. Martin, 391 S.C. 508, 513, 706 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2011).

There is no abuse of discretion as long as the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury’s good judgment and common knowledge. State v. Henry, 329 S.C. 266, 495 S.E.2d 463 (Ct. App.1997); State v. Goode, 305 S.C. 176, 406 S.E.2d 391 (Ct. App.1991). The test for qualification of an expert is a relative one that is dependent on the particular witness’s reference to the subject. Wilson v. Rivers, 357 S.C. 447, 593 S.E.2d 603 (2004). For a court to find a witness competent to testify as an expert, the witness must be better qualified than the fact finder to form an opinion on the particular subject of the testimony. Mizell v. Glover, 351 S.C. 392, 570 S.E.2d 176

(2002); Crawford v. Henderson, 356 S.C. 389, 589 S.E.2d 204 (Ct. App.2003); see also Gooding, 326 S.C. at 252-53, 487 S.E.2d at 598 (“To be considered competent to testify as an expert, ‘a witness must have acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony.’”). An expert is not limited to any class of persons acting professionally. Gooding, 326 S.C. at 253, 487 S.E.2d at 598; Thomas Sand Co. v. Colonial Pipeline Co., 349 S.C. 402, 563 S.E.2d 109 (Ct. App. 2002). There is no exact requirement concerning how knowledge or skill must be acquired. Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 369 S.E.2d 846 (Ct. App. 1988).

The party offering the expert testimony has the burden of showing the witness possesses the necessary learning, skill, or practical experience to enable the witness to give opinion testimony. State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 471 S.E.2d 689 (1996); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993); Henry, 329 S.C. at 274, 495 S.E.2d at 466. Generally, however, defects in the amount and quality of the expert’s education or experience go to the weight to be accorded the expert’s testimony and not to its admissibility. Id.; Morris, 376 S.C. at 203, 656 S.E.2d at 366; Brown v. Carolina Emergency Physicians, P.A., 348 S.C. 569, 580, 560 S.E.2d 624, 629 (Ct. App. 2001).

During the State’s proffer, Galloway-Williams testified extensively about her experience, education, training, and continuing education. She explained the matters relating to child sexual abuse that she intended to testify about in Appellant’s trial had been published in professional journals. She said the principles have been subject to peer review, are uniformly accepted and recognized within the field of sexual abuse counselors and professionals, and are reasonably relied upon in the field of child sexual

abuse and treatment. The trial court found that she qualified as an expert under Rule 702 because her specialized knowledge and opinions could assist the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact at issue. The State submits that in light of the evidence proffered, the trial court clearly did not abuse its discretion in qualifying Galloway-Williams as an expert in child sexual abuse and treatment.

As to the general nature of the testimony, behavioral characteristics of child sexual assault victims are not within the range of knowledge of the average juror. Indeed, Galloway-Williams had acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of such behavioral characteristics as would enable her to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which was beyond the scope of the jury's good judgment and common knowledge, namely whether, as argued by Appellant, the victim's delayed disclosure eroded her credibility. Henry, supra; Goode, supra. In other words, Galloway-Williams was better qualified than the fact finder to form an opinion on the subject of the victim's behavior as a reaction to sexual assault. This is all that was required for the trial court to qualify her as an expert and to admit her testimony. Ellis, supra; Mizzell, supra; Gooding, supra. It was simply a judgment call made in the trial court's sound discretion. It does not rise to the level of an abuse of that discretion simply because Galloway-Williams based some of her knowledge on personal experience. Indeed, nothing in the record shows the trial court's decision was based on a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. Morris, supra; Gooding, supra; Seuss, supra. Furthermore, because Galloway-Williams was properly qualified as an expert witness, any further objections to her qualifications went to the weight of her testimony, not its admissibility. Martin, 391 S.C. at 515-16, 706 S.E.2d at 44. Finally, the State

submits that in light of the trial court's jury charge on expert witnesses, Galloway-Williams' testimony could not have been given greater weight than that of a lay witness and, therefore, could not have been unduly prejudicial to Appellant. State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 503, 671 S.E.2d 606, 609 (2009).

For all of these reasons, the State submits the trial court's qualification of Galloway-Williams as an expert in child sexual abuse and treatment, and admission of her testimony under Rule 702, SCRE, did not constitute an abuse of discretion. Additionally, to the extent Galloway-Williams should not have been qualified as an expert, Appellant suffered no prejudice from her testimony because she described general behavioral characteristics and did not directly or indirectly vouch for the victim's credibility.

As to the specific testimony about delayed disclosure, the State submits the trial court likewise exercised appropriate discretion in allowing testimony concerning delayed disclosure. Expert testimony on common behavior by victims of sexual abuse is allowed in South Carolina. Weaverling, 337 S.C. at 474, 523 S.E.2d at 794 ("Expert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts is admissible."). "Such testimony is relevant and helpful in explaining to the jury the typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault." Id., at 475, 523 S.E.2d at 794; see also People v. Carroll, 740 N.E.2d 1084, 1090 (N.Y. 2000) ("We have long held that expert testimony regarding rape trauma syndrome, abused child syndrome or similar conditions may be admitted to explain behavior of a victim that might appear unusual or that jurors may not be expected to understand[.]"). Indeed, this kind of testimony has been accepted by courts in many

jurisdictions for approximately a quarter of a century. The Supreme Court of Hawaii observed in 1990 that “sexual abuse of children ‘is a particularly mysterious phenomenon.’” State v. Batangan, 799 P.2d 48, 51 (Haw. 1990) (quoting State v. Castro, 756 P.2d 1033, 1044 (Haw. 1988)).

The Hawaii Supreme Court quoted with approval the observations of other courts as follows:

While jurors may be capable of personalizing the emotions of victims of physical assault generally, and of assessing witness credibility accordingly, tensions unique to trauma experienced by a child sexually abused by a family member have remained largely unknown to the public. . . . [T]he routine indicia of witness credibility – consistency, willingness to aid the prosecution, straight forward rendition of the facts – may, for good reason be lacking. As a result jurors may impose standards of normalcy on child victim/witnesses who consistently respond in distinctly abnormal fashion.

Batangan, at 51 (quoting State v. Moran, 728 P.2d 248, 251 (Ariz. 1986) and State v. Middleton, 657 P.2d 1215, 1222 (Or. 1983) (Roberts, J., concurring)).

The Batangan court further observed:

Child victims of sexual abuse have exhibited some patterns of behavior which are seemingly inconsistent with behavioral norms of other victims of assault. Two such types of behavior are delayed reporting of the offenses and recantation of allegations of abuse. Normally, such behavior would be attributed to inaccuracy or prevarication. . . . In these situations it is helpful for the jury to know that many child victims of sexual abuse behave in the same manner. Expert testimony exposing jurors to the unique interpersonal dynamics involved in prosecutions for intrafamily child sexual abuse . . . may play a particularly useful role by disabusing the jury of some widely held misconceptions . . . so that it may evaluate the evidence free of the constraints of popular myths.

Batangan, at 51-52 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). The Minnesota Supreme Court found: “Background data providing a relevant insight into the puzzling aspects of the child’s conduct and demeanor which the jury could not otherwise bring to its evaluation of her credibility is helpful and appropriate in cases of sexual abuse of children.” State v. Myers, 359 N.W.2d 604, 610 (Minn. 1984).

The Alabama Criminal Court of Appeals found that an expert’s testimony on delayed disclosure based on her specialized knowledge was admissible and “clearly assisted the jury to understand the evidence presented” regarding the victim’s ten year delay in disclosing abuse. W.R.C. v. State, 69 So.3d 933, 939 (Ala. Crim. App. 2010) (noting “other jurisdictions have held similar testimony to be admissible in child-sexual-abuse cases”). The New Jersey Supreme Court declared the following: “There does not appear to be a dispute about acceptance within the scientific community of the clinical theory that CSAAS [Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome] identifies or describes behavioral traits commonly found in child abuse victims.” State v. J.Q., 617 A.2d 1196, 1206 (N.J. 1993) (finding testimony about CSAAS is admissible to show victim displayed symptoms of child abuse or to explain delayed disclosure or recantation, but not to establish guilt or innocence).

The State called Galloway-Williams as an expert because the victim disclosed the sexual abuse to others several years after it first occurred. Generally, “[e]xpert testimony that abused children often delay reporting the abuse . . . informs the jury that the victim’s failure to disclose in a timely fashion does not necessarily exonerate the defendant without suggesting that the particular child witness in the case was or was not abused.” Commonwealth v. Bougas, 795 N.E.2d 1230, 1236 (Mass. App. Ct. 2003). Further,

“[D]isclosure in child abuse cases is generally delayed because of coercion, guilt, or some other reason, [and thus] there will be no physical evidence to corroborate the victim’s allegations. Therefore . . . expert testimony will . . . assist the jury in understanding the evidence.” People v. Beckley, 456 N.W.2d 391, 402 (Mich. 1990). Galloway-Williams’s testimony focused primarily on the occurrence and reasons for delayed disclosures in victims of child sexual abuse, information typically beyond the knowledge of a lay juror. See State v. Carpenter, 556 S.E.2d 316, 321 (N.C. Ct. App. 2001) (finding expert testimony on delayed disclosure is “clearly instructive and helpful to the jury in understanding the evidence since the nature of the sexual abuse of children places lay jurors at a disadvantage”). “Indeed, the majority of states permit expert testimony to explain delayed reporting, recantation, and inconsistency . . . .” People v. Spicola, 947 N.E.2d 620, 635 (N.Y. 2011). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting this testimony as it is clearly admissible under Weaverling and case law from the majority of jurisdictions that goes back decades.

Appellant argues Galloway-Williams’ testimony nevertheless should have been excluded as prejudicial to him because the effect of this testimony on the jury was to show that the victim acted in the same manner as other children had acted who had been sexually abused. Appellant’s argument lacks merit because Galloway-Williams’s testimony was not prejudicial to Appellant in the manner that Appellant argues.

Under Rule 403, SCRE, in order for evidence to be excluded as prejudicial, the probative value of the evidence must be substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. “To show prejudice, there must be a reasonable probability that the jury’s verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence.” State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732

S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012). Further, Rule 403, SCRE, requires there to be unfair prejudice before the evidence will be excluded. “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest a decision on an improper basis.” Id. at 529, 732 S.E.2d at 229.

“The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.” State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003). Thus a trial court’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence will be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003). “If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.”, State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

In the instant case, for the reasons discussed above, the testimony had tremendous probative value. As is obvious to those involved in the criminal justice system, the phenomenon of delayed disclosure by sexually abused children really does exist. Appellant fails to show otherwise. However, this information is not within the knowledge of laymen and is proper general information to provide in the form of expert testimony.

On the other hand, Galloway-Williams’ testimony cannot be found to have been unfairly prejudicial to Appellant’s case. As explained above, Galloway-Williams’

testimony was admissible and proper in this case. Galloway-Williams did not compare the victim to other child victims during her testimony. In fact, Galloway-Williams never even mentioned the victim's case while testifying. The Supreme Court recently explained: "[I]t is improper for a witness to testify as to his or her opinion about the credibility of a child victim in a sexual abuse matter." State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 358-59, 737 S.E.2d 490, 500 (2013). In this case Galloway-Williams did not opine on Victim's veracity. Accordingly, this case is readily distinguishable from Kromah and other cases where the expert testimony was found to be unfairly prejudicial to the defendant. See State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94 (2011) (finding the admission of the forensic interviewer's written report into testimony to be error because the reports stated that each child "provided a compelling disclosure of abuse by appellant."); State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 465, 725 S.E.2d 139, 142 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding the forensic interviewer's "opinion as to whether she thinks something happened [was] nothing other than her inadmissible opinion as to whether the victim was telling the truth").

Accordingly, Galloway-Williams' expert testimony was proper in this case because it aided the trier of fact in understanding the victim's behavior in the case. Galloway-Williams was not required to know or testify to any facts of this case in order to testify as an expert. The testimony also was not unfairly prejudicial to Appellant because the testimony was presented in a general manner and never touched upon the victim's truthfulness or even discussed the victim's version of events.

Further, given the corroborating testimony regarding the time and place of the sexual abuse and the trial court's charge to the jury to give no greater weight to the

testimony of the expert, any error from admission of Galloway-Williams' testimony was harmless. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial). For all of these reasons, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

## II.

### **The trial court properly charged the jury, pursuant to § 16-3-657 of the South Carolina Code, that the testimony of a sexual assault victim need not be corroborated.**

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